
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Federal BarAssociation 
National Council Meeting 

 
Mid-Year Meeting 2014 

Saturday, March 28, 2015 at 2:15 p.m.  
Westin Arlington Gateway 

Arlington, VA 

1



 
 

 
 
 

National Council Meeting Agenda 
Saturday, March 28, 2015 at 2:15 p.m. EDT 

Westin Arlington Gateway 
Arlington, VA 

 
 

1. Call to Order  Matthew Moreland  
 

2. Consent Agenda 
• Approval of the Minutes (September 6, 2014) (Tab A) Matthew Moreland 

 
3. Report from the President  Matthew Moreland 

• FBA Midyear Update 
• Actions of the Board of Directors (Tab B) 

 
4.  Report from the Treasurer (Tab C)              Hon. Michael Newman 

• Financial Update as of January 31, 2015 
 
5.  Reports 

• Report from the Executive Director  Karen Silberman 
 

• Report from the President-Elect  Mark Vincent  
 

• Report from the Chair of the Membership Committee  Jonathan Hafen  
 

• Report from the Chair of the Nominations  (Tab D) Matthew Moreland 
and Elections Committee 

 
• Report from the Chair of the Government (Tab E) West Allen 

Relations Committee 
 

• Report from the Chair of the Constitution, Bylaws, Rules (Tab F) Beth Smith 
and Resolutions Committee 

 
• Report from the President of the Foundation of the FBA  Martha Hofmeister 

 
• Report from the President of the Federal Bar Building Corporation Robert Mueller 

 
• Report from the ABA Delegate (Tab G) Ashley Belleau                       

 
6. Unfinished Business Matthew Moreland  
  
7. New Business Matthew Moreland 
 
8. President’s Final Remarks  Matthew Moreland 
 
9. Adjournment Matthew Moreland 
 

2



2015 
• 40th Annual Indian Law Conference, April 9-10, 2015, Scottsdale, AZ 
• Chapter, Section & Division Leadership Training Program, May1-2, 2015, Arlington, VA 
• Immigration Law Seminar, May 15-16, 2015, Memphis, TN 
• 26th Annual Insurance Tax Seminar, May 28-29, 2015, Washington DC 
• Women in the Law Conference, June 5, 2015, Washington DC 
• Board of Directors Meeting, July 11, 2015, San Francisco, CA 
• Board of Directors Meeting, September 10, 2015, Salt Lake City, UT 
• Annual Meeting and Convention, September 10-11, 2015, Salt Lake City, UT 
• National Council Meeting, September 12, 2015, Salt Lake City, UT 

3



 

 

 

 

TAB A 

Approval of the Minutes 

September 6, 2014 

4



Federal Bar Association 
National Council 

Saturday, September 6, 2014  
2:15 p.m. EDT 

Omni Providence Hotel 
Providence, R.I. 

 
 
CALL TO ORDER 

President Gelpi called the meeting to order at 2:17 EDT with a quorum present. The agenda 
was adopted as distributed prior to the meeting.  

   
APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES 

A motion was made to approve the minutes of the March 28, 2014 meeting. The motion was 
properly seconded and passed unanimously. 

 
REPORT OF THE PRESIDENT 

President Gelpi reported on the actions of the Board of Directors since the last meeting of the 
National Council: 

 
Actions of the Board of Directors at its June 21, 2014 Meeting 
• Approved the FY2015 Budget  
• Approved revised Policy 1-8: Whistleblower  
• Approved revised Policy 2-2: Authority to Sign Checks  
• Approved revised Policy 2-3: Reimbursements  
• Approved revised Policy 2-7: Credit Card Privileges  
• Approved the increase of the Health Law Section dues to $15  
• Approve the distribution of Policy 9-4: Section and Division Policies, Procedures and 

Guidelines for public comment  
• Approved the Maine Chapter charter  
• Approved the Hon. P. Michael Mahoney Western Division for the Northern District of 

Illinois Chapter charter  
• Approved the FY2015 Issues Agenda  
• Approved the change of law student dues: Year one student (1L), $20 per year or, 3 years 

for $50; year two student (2L), $20 per year or, 2 years for $30; Year three student (3L), 
$20 plus 1 year free for period starting from graduation date; and law student division 
advisor, $0.  

 
Actions of the Board of Directors at its September 4, 2014 Meeting 
• Approved revised Policy 1-6: Standing Committees, Special Committees and Task 

Forces 
• Approved revised Policy 3-1: Recognition of Long Standing Members 
• Approved revised Policy 7-1: National Convention Policy 
• Approved the Arkansas Chapter charter 
• Approved the Northern District of West Virginia Chapter charter 
• Approved the Central District of Illinois Chapter charter 

5



• Approved the Southern District of New York Chapter to host the 2018 Annual 
Meeting and Convention in New York, NY. 

 
President Gelpi gave the report of Nominations and Elections Committee. The following 
individuals were elected to terms beginning Oct. 1, 2014: 

 
Officers 
President-Elect........................................................ Mark K. Vincent 
Treasurer....................................................Hon. Michael J. Newman 
 
Directors 
Group 1.............................................................. Richard S. Dellinger 
Group 2............................................................................ Dawn Stern 
Group 3................................................. Katherine Gonzalez-Valentin 
Group 4.......................................................... Kristin M. Kimmelman 
 
Vice Presidents for the Circuits 
1st Circuit............................................................Matthew Moschella 
2nd Circuit.....................................................................Ernest Bartol 
3rd Circuit.................................. ….…………Bridget Montgomery 
4th Circuit....................................... ……………Christine Varnado 
5th Circuit...................................................................... Barry Ashe 
6th Circuit...............................................................James W. Satola 
7th Circuit.......................................................... Sheri Mecklenburg 
8th Circuit................................................................................ TBD 
9th Circuit..................................................................Alison Bachus 
10th Circuit........................................ …….............Jonathan Hafen 
11th Circuit...................................................... Richard S. Dellinger 
D.C. Circuit.............................................................. Elizabeth Pugh 

 
President Gelpi recognized the past presidents in attendance. Additionally, he reported on his 
outreach efforts and recognized the chapters and sections that held events commemorating 
the 50th anniversaries of the Criminal Justice Act and the Civil Rights Act. President Gelpi 
stated that there are current chapters in 45 states and he hopes there can be chapters in every 
state in the near future. 

 
REPORT FROM THE PRESIDENT-ELECT 

President-Elect Moreland announced FY15 committee chair appointments. President-Elect 
Moreland appointed Adine Momoh as the Vice President for the Eighth Circuit and 
Michael Vitale as the Vice President for the Eleventh Circuit, as Richard Dellinger will be 
stepping down from this position. President-Elect Moreland also presented the FY15 
budget as approved by the Board of Directors at is June 21, 2014 meeting. 
 
He thanked Judge Gelpi for his service and presented him with the President's Tower.  
 
 

6



President-Elect Moreland read the proposed new Law Student Associate dues structure 
(effective Oct. 1, 2014) that was previously approved by the Board of Directors: 

• Law student division advisor, $0, no dues. 
• Year one student (1L), $20 per year or 3 years for $50. 
• Year two student (2L), $20 per year or 2 years for $30. 
• Year three student (3L), $20 plus 1 year free for period starting from graduation 

date. 
A motion was made to approve the new Law Student Associate dues structure, effective 
Oct. 1, 2014. The motion was properly seconded and passed unanimously. 

 
 
REPORT FROM THE TREASURER 

Mr. Vincent presented the financial statements as of August 31, 2014, which cover 
approximately 82 percent of the year’s budget and reported that the FBA is in a solid 
financial position. 

  
REPORTS 

Report from the Constitution, Rules, Resolutions and Bylaws Committee   
President Gelpi presented the proposed amendment to Section 6 of the Bylaws – Election 
Schedule, Procedure and Requirements. A motion was made to approve the Bylaws as 
amended. The motion was properly seconded and passed unanimously. 
 
Report from the Membership Committee 
Mr. Hafen reported that the membership hit an all-time high over the past year, but growth 
has slowed. However, he did state that there has been significant growth in law student 
associate membership. Mr. Hafen emphasized the need to promote Sustaining Membership 
and he encouraged chapters to continue to follow their membership plans to meet the goal 
of 3 percent yearly membership growth. Finally, he recognized the members of the 
Membership Committee for their hard work over the past year.  
 
Report from President of the Foundation of the Federal Bar Association  
Ms. Hofmeister recognized the Board of Directors of the Foundation of the Federal Bar 
Association. Ms. Hofmeister reported the revenue from the 2014 Silent Auction totaled 
$8,178. She reminded members of the National Council that the deadline for the 2015 
Public Service Scholarship is April 30, 2015 and that the next deadline to apply for a 
Chapter Community Outreach Grant is December 15, 2014. 
 
Report from the Government Relations Committee 
Mr. Allen recognized members of the committee and Bruce Moyer. He presented the report 
of the Government Relations Committee and highlighted the work being done toward 
reducing the number of judicial vacancies and ensuring that there is adequate funding for 
the federal courts. Finally, Mr. Allen encouraged attendance at the 2015 Capitol Hill Day to 
be held on April 30, 2015. 
 

  

7



Report from the President of the Federal Bar Building Corporation 
Robert Mueller provided a history of the Federal Bar Building Corporation and stated the 
investment fund of the FBBC is valued at approximately $5 million.  
 
President Gelpi presided over the election of the two open director positions on the FBBC    
Board of Directors by the National Council. Past National Presidents Adrienne Berry and 
Les Horowitz were nominated by the FBBC Nominating Committee prior to the National 
Council meeting. President Gelpi announced that Ms. Berry and Mr. Horowitz were elected 
to the FBBC Board of Directors.  
 
Report from the ABA Delegate 
Ashley Belleau presented the report of the ABA Delegate. Ms. Belleau reported that she 
reviewed the 44 resolutions for consideration by the ABA House of Delegates at its annual 
meeting. She voted in favor of five resolutions that would be of the most interest to FBA 
members: a resolution opposing the suspension or delay of the fundamental right to a civil 
jury trial, even in the face of difficult fiscal circumstances; a resolution endorsing the 2014 
American Civil Trial Bar Roundtable’s, A White Paper on Increasing the Professionalism 
of American Lawyers; a resolution opposing changes in current educational debt loan 
forgiveness programs for public service lawyers; a resolution urging Congress to reallocate 
payroll tax revenues between the Old-Age and Survivors Insurance Trust Fund (OASI) and 
the Disability Insurance Trust Fund (DI) as needed to prevent depletion of the reserves of 
either Trust Fund; and a resolution urging all bar associations and foundations, courts, law 
schools, legal aid organizations and law firms to create and advance initiatives that marshal 
the resources of newly admitted lawyers to meet the unmet legal needs of underserved 
populations in sustainable ways. These five resolutions were adopted by the ABA House of 
Delegates. Ms. Belleau reported that she abstained from voting on 35 resolutions and the 
remaining resolutions were withdrawn for various reasons.  

 
UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

There was no unfinished business. 
 
NEW BUSINESS 

President Gelpi recognized the service and efforts of the current Board of Directors and 
previous boards and officers. He distributed awards to the Directors, Committee Chairs and 
Vice Presidents for the Circuits. 

 
ANNOUNCEMENTS/2015 CALENDAR OF EVENTS 

• Board of Directors Meeting, January 31, New Orleans, LA 
• Tax Law Conference, March 6, Washington, DC 
• Midyear Meeting, March 28, Arlington, VA 
• 40th Annual Indian Law Conference, April 9-10, Scottsdale, AZ 
• Capitol Hill Day, April 30, Washington, DC 
• Chapter, Section and Division Leadership Training, May 1-2, Arlington, VA 
• 27th Annual Insurance Tax Seminar, May 28-29, Washington, DC 

 
 

8



REPORT FROM THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR   
Karen Silberman thanked the leadership and members for their service. She reported that 
the FBA is increasing and improving the ways in which we connect members to the 
mission. There are more ways than ever to create positive member experiences. Highlights 
include: Capitol Hill Day, Legislative Updates, Annual Moot Court Competition, and the 
newly established Women in the Law Conference. She emphasized her commitment to 
build upon the success built over the previous year. 

  
PRESIDENT’S FINAL REMARKS  

The following officers and directors were sworn in by Hon. Gustavo Gelpi, Jr.: President-
elect, Mr. Vincent; Treasurer, Judge Newman; and Directors, Mr. Dellinger, Ms. Stern, Ms. 
Gonzalez-Valentin, and Ms. Kimmelman. The following Vice Presidents for the Circuits 
were also sworn in: Mr. Moschella, Mr. Bartol, Ms. Varnado, Mr. Ashe, Mr. Satola, Ms. 
Mecklenburg, Ms. Momoh, Ms. Bachus, Mr. Hafen, Mr. Vitale, and Ms. Pugh. 

 
ADJOURNMENT 

President Gelpi adjourned the meeting at 4:58 p.m. EDT. 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Karen Silberman 
Executive Director 
 
 

9



 

 

 

 

TAB B 

Report from the President 

 

FBA Midyear Update 
Actions of the Board of Directors 

 
 

10



 

 

 

ACTIONS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS FY2015 
 
 
JANUARY 31, 2015 MEETING 

• Approved revised Policy 7-2: Chapter Leadership Training 
• Approved revised Policy 7-3: Section and Division Leadership Training 
• Adopted a resolution that authorizes the Executive Director, Deputy Executive 

Director, President, and Treasurer to act on behalf the Federal Bar Association 
regarding contractual matters, including, but not limited to, entering into, life 
insurance and annuity contracts, entering into financial planning agreements, 
exercising authority over brokerage accounts and other financial transactions with 
Minnesota Life 

• Approved revised budget for FY2015 
• Approved the establishment of a Qui Tam Section 
• Approve the Law Student Division Bylaws 
• Adopted the resolution of Tidewater Chapter of the FBA to change the chapter’s 

name to the Hampton Roads Chapter 
• Approved the recommendation of the Young Lawyers Division to change the age 

limitation of membership to 40 years of age or younger 
• Approved the recommendation of the Constitution, Bylaws, Rules and Resolutions 

Committee regarding proposed amendments to the FBA Bylaws 
• Approved revised Policy 2-3: Reimbursements 

 
NOVEMBER 12, 2014 MEETING 

• Approved additional FY2015 committee appointments 
• Approved the St. Louis Chapter Bylaws 

 
SEPTEMBER 4, 2014 MEETING 

• Approved FY2015 committee appointments 
• Adopted a resolution that authorizes and empowers the Executive Director and the 

President to execute agreements, give direction, and receive information to/from 
SunTrust Bank regarding the assets of the Federal Bar Association 

• Adopted a resolution that authorizes and empowers the Executive Director, Deputy 
Executive Director, President, and Treasurer to act, give instructions, access 
information, use Bank’s services, perform transactions, enter into agreements, and 
delegate authority on behalf the operational account of the Federal Bar Association 
at SunTrust Bank 

 

 

 

 

11



 

 

 

 

TAB C 

Report from the Treasurer 

 

Financial Update as of January 31, 2015 

12



2015 2014

Assets
Current Assets
     Cash and cash equivalents  $               306,237  $         453,078 
     Short-term Investments                     62,053          1,663,982 
     Long-term Investments                2,069,993                         - 
     Accounts Receivable                     66,388               26,606 
     Inventory                     15,321               31,302 
     Prepaid expenses                     51,190               77,468 

-------------------------- ----------------------
          Total Current Assets 2,571,182              2,252,436        

-------------------------- ----------------------

Other Assets
     Furniture and fixtures                   187,920             187,920 
     Computer equipment and software                   589,460             578,930 

-------------------------- ----------------------
     Total Property and Equipment before Acc Depr 777,380                 766,850           

     Accumulated depreciation                 (544,306)           (472,248)
-------------------------- ----------------------

          Net Property and Equipment 233,074                 294,602           
-------------------------- ----------------------

          Total Assets 2,804,256$            2,547,038$      
=============== ============

Liabilities
Current Liabilities
     Accounts payable  $               116,806  $             5,504 
     Accrued annual leave                     39,743               35,652 
     Deferred membership dues                   117,227             115,645 
     Due to related entities                       4,880                 3,482 
     Other                       8,498                         - 

-------------------------- ----------------------
          Total Current Liabilities 287,154                 160,283           

-------------------------- ----------------------

Net Assets

          Total Net Assets 2,517,102              2,386,755
-------------------------- ----------------------

          Total Liabilities and Net Assets 2,804,256$            2,547,038$      
=============== ============

January 31, 2015 and 2014
Statement of Financial Position

Federal Bar Association

See Accompanying Accountant's Compilation Report.
13



FY 2015 FY 2014 FY 2015 Percent
YTD YTD Budget of Budget

Support and Revenue:
(1) National dues  $         681,560  $     646,062 1,860,154$   37%
(2) Sustaining dues             264,630         259,535 723,052        37%
(3) Section/division dues               55,920           54,605 153,000        37%
(4) Conferences             207,575         122,041 910,000        23%
(5) Co-sponsored conferences                         -                     - 50,000          0%
(6) Sections/divisions activities               24,430           36,917 85,000          29%
(7) Administrative and other revenues 129,472            91,133          239,500        54%
     (Schedule I)

---------------------- ------------------ ------------------- -----------------
Total support and revenue 1,363,587        1,210,293    4,020,706    34%

Expenses:
(8) Activity expenses (Schedule II) 377,589            344,203        2,179,000     17%
(9) General and overhead expenses 598,771            578,389        1,809,500     33%
     (Schedule III)

---------------------- ------------------ ------------------- -----------------
     Total expenses 976,360           922,592       3,988,500    24%

---------------------- ------------------ ------------------- -----------------
Change in net assets from operations 387,227            287,701        

Net Assets, beginning of year 2,129,875 2,099,054     

Current Net Assets 2,517,102$       2,386,755$   

Federal Bar Association
Statement of Activities

For the Four Months Ending January 31, 2015

See Accompanying Accountant's Compilation Report.
14



Federal Bar Association
SCHEDULE OF ADMINISTRATIVE AND OTHER REVENUES

Schedule I
For the Four Months Ending January 31, 2015

FY 2015 FY 2014 FY 2015 Percent
YTD YTD Budget of Budget

Schedule of Revenues

(7.01) Administrative Fees (FBBC)  $                -  $   10,100 -$           
(7.02) Administrative Fees (FFBA)            4,500         4,250         13,500 33%
(7.03) Administrative Fees (Sections&Divisions)          52,772       48,104         52,000 101%
(7.04) Interest/Investment Income          27,350              57         42,000 65%
(7.05) FBA Need an Attorney            3,525         2,575         12,000 29%
(7.06) The Federal Lawyer & Publications            7,103         8,064         33,000 22%
(7.07) Royalty Income            1,872         3,701           8,000 23%
(7.10) Webinars          23,361       11,196         55,000 42%
(7.11) List Sales               475            931           4,000 12%
(7.12) Miscellaneous Income            8,514         2,155         20,000 43%

------------------ --------------- ----------------- --------------
   Total Administrative and
    Other Revenues 129,472$    91,133$   239,500$   54%

See Accompanying Accountant's Compilation Report.
15



Federal Bar Association
SCHEDULE OF ACTIVITY EXPENSES

Schedule II
For the Four Months Ending January 31, 2015

FY 2015 FY 2014 FY 2015 Percent
YTD YTD Budget of Budget

Schedule of Activity Expenses

Activity Expenses
(8.01) President & BOD  $         3,740  $       20,485 140,000$     3%
(8.02) National Council 14                500              5,000           0%
(8.03) Circuit Vice Presidents 193              -                   38,000         1%
(8.04) NC Appointees -                   -                   9,000           0%
(8.05) Past Presidents -                   -                   6,000           0%
(8.06) Gov. Committees & Board 4                  -                   1,500           0%
(8.07) National Elections -                   -                   10,500         0%
(8.08) Government Relations 30,772          22,000          72,000         43%
(8.09) Chapter Delegate -                   1,251            45,000         0%
(8.10) Chapter Leadership Training (35)               -                   65,000         (0%)
(8.11) Chapter Activity Fund 2,200            5,200            20,000         11%
(8.12) Chapter Rebates 116,809        114,583        455,000       26%
(8.13) Chapter Services 935              1,529            12,000         8%
(8.14) Membership Services 22,238          16,155          60,000         37%
(8.15) Membership Programs 500              277              12,000         4%
(8.16) The Federal Lawyer & Publications 48,962          43,206          225,000       22%
(8.17) FBA Conferences 48,252          20,281          630,000       8%
(8.18) Membership Marketing -                   1,234            12,000         0%
(8.19) Meetings Marketing 4,228            -                   15,000         28%
(8.20) Webinar CLE Fees 4,072            1,026            16,000         25%

------------------- ------------------- ------------------ -----------------
   Subtotal Activity Expenses 282,884       247,727       1,849,000    15%

(8.21) Section and Divisions 93,641          92,568          285,000       33%
(8.22) FBA Funded Divisions 1,007            3,908            35,000         3%
(8.23) Section Council 57                                    - 5,000           1%
(8.24) Section Activity Fund 5,000           0%

------------------- ------------------- ------------------ -----------------
   Subtotal Section & Division
     Activity Expense 94,705         96,476         330,000       29%

------------------- ------------------- ------------------ -----------------

Total Activity Expenses 377,589$     344,203$     2,179,000$  17%

See Accompanying Accountant's Compilation Report.16



Federal Bar Association
SCHEDULE OF ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Schedule III
For the Four Months Ending January 31, 2015

FY 2015 FY 2014 FY 2015 Percent
YTD YTD Budget of Budget

Schedule of Administrative Expenses

Administrative Expenses
(9.01) Salaries  $      358,554  $     376,652 1,030,000$      35%
(9.02) Payroll taxes 24,085           25,834         75,000            32%
(9.03) Employee Insurance 22,810           19,236         79,000            29%
(9.04) Employee Retirement 7,508            13,972         54,000            14%
(9.05) Employee Training 1,404            187              8,000              18%
(9.06) Management Travel -                    891              5,000              0%
(9.07) Outsourced Services 57,669           19,386         175,000          33%
(9.08) Dues and subscriptions 782               3,567           5,000              16%
(9.09) Leased Equipment 5,203            3,687           16,000            33%
(9.10) Repairs and maintenance 837               747              5,000              17%
(9.11) Rent 20,000           20,000         60,000            33%
(9.12) Insurance 5,781            6,791           21,000            28%
(9.13) Personal property taxes 1,489            -                   4,000              37%
(9.14) Professional fees 6,100            10,000         18,000            34%
(9.15) Supplies 7,238            2,586           17,000            43%
(9.16) Computer/Internet Services 33,471           25,967         97,500            34%
(9.17) Telephone 8,491            6,566           27,000            31%
(9.18) Postage 3,751            242              7,500              50%
(9.19) Depreciation-Furniture & Fixtures 2,041            2,041           7,500              27%
(9.20) Depreciation-Computer Equipment 18,798           22,554         60,000            31%
(9.21) Other Office Expense 9,939            15,157         30,000            33%
(9.22) Miscellaneous Expense 2,820            2,326           -                      

------------------- ------------------ --------------------- ----------------
   Subtotal Administrative Expense 598,771        578,389      1,801,500       33%

(9.23) Recovered Overhead & Production -                    -                   8,000              
------------------- ------------------ --------------------- ----------------

   Subtotal Recovered Expenses -                    -                  8,000              

Total Administrative Expenses 598,771$      578,389$     1,809,500$     33%

See Accompanying Accountant's Compilation Report.17



 

 

 

 

TAB D 

Report from the Chair of the Nominations  

and Elections Committee 

 

18



Pursuant to the FBA Constitution and Bylaws, and in accordance with the notice disseminated

earlier this year, the Nominations & Elections Committee has met and considered applications

for nomination to FBA national office. The committee has nominated the following members for

the offices indicated.

Candidates

Hon. Michael J. Newman President-Elect

Hon. Michelle H. Burns Treasurer

W. West Allen Director (Group 1-Vice Presidents for the Circuits)

Hon. Elizabeth Ann Kronk Warner Director (Group 2-Chairs for the Sections and Divisions)

Christine Companion Varnado Director (Group 3-Chapter Presidents)

Glen R. McMurry Director (Group 4-Younger Lawyers)

Ashley L. Belleau ABA Delegate

Oreste R. Ramos Vice President for the First Circuit

Philip R. Schatz Vice President for the Second Circuit

Hon. Karoline Mehalchick Vice President for the Third Circuit

Andrew K. Clark Vice President for the Fourth Circuit

Col. William C. Kirk (Ret.) Vice President for the Fifth Circuit

Tonya Kennedy Cammon Vice President for the Sixth Circuit

Kevin G. Desharnais Vice President for the Seventh Circuit

Daniel C. Hedlund Vice President for the Eighth Circuit

Joseph S. Leventhal Vice President for the Ninth Circuit

Chris M. Stephens Vice President for the Tenth Circuit

Brett A. Barfield Vice President for the Eleventh Circuit

Steven R. Miller Vice President for the D.C. Circuit

1 of 2

19



The names of these candidates will be listed on the Notice of Election that will be distributed to
each member in good standing as of June 15, 2015.

Petitions
Members who have not been nominated for office by the Committee, but who wish to be placed
on the ballot for national office, may do so by delivering to Matthew B. Moreland, Chair of the
Nominations and Elections Committee, at elections@fedbar.org, a petition, including an
Application, specifying the office being sought and bearing the required number of signatures,
i.e., fifty (50) signatures for national offices; twenty (20) signatures for vice presidents for the
circuits by members within the respective circuit. No member shall be eligible as an endorser of
a petition whose dues are not paid for the current fiscal year or who is not otherwise in good
standing. Each petition may propose nominees for one or more offices; however, in no event
shall any member be eligible as an endorser of more than one candidate for the same office.
Petitions must be received by 5 p.m. EDT on Monday, April 27, 2015.

Notice of Election, Ballots and Voting
In accordance with Bylaw 6(D), by June 15, 2015, the Committee shall cause a Notice of
Election to be sent to each member of the Association in good standing. The notice shall list
the names of all nominated candidates and candidates by petition in alphabetical order under
each elective office. The notice also shall contain such instructions as necessary for members
to cast their votes as prescribed by policy adopted by the Board of Directors. A suspended
member who is restored to good standing after the transmittal of the notice and who, prior to
the election’s close, delivers to the Committee evidence of good standing, shall thereupon be
entitled to vote. In an uncontested election, the Association shall only send the Notice of
Election electronically to members.

The ballot shall contain the names of all nominated candidates and candidates by petition for
each elective office as well as space for a write-in candidate for each elective office. Completed
ballots shall be received by the Chair of the Committee or by such person as designed by the
Chair no later than June 30. The Committee shall review and certify the tabulated votes and
report as elected the candidate for each office who has received a plurality of the votes cast for
that office by July 1.

Matthew B. Moreland, President
2015 Nominations and Elections Committee Chair

2 of 2

20



 

 

 

 

TAB E 

Report from the Chair of the Government Relations Committee 

 

21



 

 
FEDERAL BAR ASSOCIATION 

GOVERNMENT RELATIONS COMMITTEE 

 
February 23, 2015 

 
 
TO:  Board of Directors 

Federal Bar Association 
 
FROM: Government Relations Committee 

W. West Allen, Chair; and Bruce Moyer, Counsel 
 
SUBJ:  Update from the Government Relations Committee 
 
 
Government Relations Committee Activities 
 
GRC Programming at Mid-Year Meeting.  The Government Relations Committee is 
producing two events in conjunction with the upcoming Mid-Year Meeting.  On Saturday 
morning, March 28, the GRC will present a panel session on the Foreign Intelligence 
Surveillance Court and the balance between national security and civil liberties interests, 
featuring a panel of judges, litigators and experts. An overview of the session is attached.  
In addition, the GRC has secured Lyle Deniston, the dean of the journalist corps covering 
the U.S. Supreme Court, as the keynote luncheon speaker. 
 
FBA Capitol Hill Day.  Registration continues for FBA Capitol Hill Day, Thursday, 
April 30.  The registration flyer is attached.  Last year 35 FBA leaders participated in 
Capitol Hill Day, the highest number of participants ever.  This year the GRC is 
especially seeking CHD participants associated with the states and Congressional districts 
of Senate and House lawmakers who are members of the judiciary committees.   
 
Government Relations Liaisons.  Chapters have begun designating their government 
relations liaisons to promote and assist in the chapter’s participation of government 
relations activities. The circuit vice-presidents are assisting in promoting chapter 
participation in this initiative.  A promotional flyer on this initiative is attached.   
 

22



     

FBA Government Relations Training.  GRC Chair West Allen and Counsel Bruce 
Moyer will present a training session on FBA government relations activities and 
opportunities during the upcoming FBA Leadership Training program on May 1. 
 
Government Relations Update.  A free, live video webinar by FBA Counsel Bruce 
Moyer detailing legislative and policy developments affecting federal practitioners will 
be broadcast on the FBA website on Tuesday, March 24, at 12:30 pm.   
 
Bruce Moyer’s Washington Watch column continues to appear in The Federal Lawyer, 
and important updates are posted on the FBA website.  In addition, the monthly FBA 
government relations update is transmitted to chapters, and in turn to chapter members 
and judges. 
 
Call for Nominations to FY2016 Issues Agenda.  The GRC invites members, chapters, 
sections, and divisions to nominate issues for addition to its Government Relations Issues 
Agenda. The deadline for Issues Agenda nominations is Friday, April 3.  
The Issue Nomination Application is attached, as well as available online. 
 
 
Recent Developments on Capitol Hill 
 
Low Levels of Judicial Vacancies. Article III vacancies currently stand at 49 vacancies 
– a relatively low level.  This is a development the Federal Bar Association should take 
pride in and feel a sense of accomplishment.  While the reduction of judicial vacancies 
from 100-plus levels several years ago to less than half that number today is due to 
several factors, they include FBA’s prominent advocacy for a prompt nomination and 
confirmation process. The reduction of judicial vacancies to the current favorable levels 
are due, in part, to the efforts of FBA national and chapter leaders and members who 
continually urged their Senators to keep the federal bench fully-staffed and assure the 
prompt administration of justice.  
 
Confirmation Hearings of Attorney General and Deputy Attorney General 
Nominees.  The Senate Judiciary Committee held a confirmation hearing later in late 
January on the nomination of Loretta Lynch to become Attorney General; the Committee 
is expected to report out her nomination at its February 26 business meeting.  President 
Obama nominated Lynch, the current United States Attorney for the Eastern District of 
New York, to the post in November. The Senate’s consideration of the President’s 
nomination of Sally Quillian Yates to the No. 2 post in the Justice Department – Deputy 
Attorney General – is likely to follow action on the Lynch nomination.  Yates is currently 
the United States Attorney for the Northern District of Georgia in Atlanta.   
 
SCOTUS Electronic Filing Announced in Chief Justice’s Year-End Report.  The 
Supreme Court is moving toward a full and free-access system for all briefs and other 
filings in cases before the Court.  The system is expected to be working “as soon as 
2016,” Chief Justice John G. Roberts, Jr. said in his annual year-end report on the state of 
the federal judiciary. Though paper filings will still be required for those who have 

23



     

business with the court, all filings will eventually be available for anyone to view online, 
free of charge.  In explaining the move, Chief Justice Roberts indicated the Supreme 
Court will make briefs and other filings available electronically through a new, free 
system the Court will create on the Court’s website.  Currently the Court directs users to 
a site maintained by the American Bar Association for copies of the briefs in the 
approximately seventy cases it hears each year.   
 
The Chief Justice used the report to note the Court’s deliberate guardedness in 
immediately embracing cutting-edge innovation.  It implicitly reached to the slowness of 
the Court’s readiness to authorize the video transmittal of its own proceedings.   
 “The federal courts, including the Supreme Court, must often introduce new 
technologies at a more measured pace than other institutions, especially those in private 
industry,” Roberts wrote. “Judges and court executives are understandably circumspect in 
introducing change to a court system that works well,” he wrote, “until they are satisfied 
that they are introducing change for the good … Courts will always be prudent whenever 
it comes to embracing the ‘next big thing.’ ” 

Cameras Courtroom Coverage Remains Contentious.  The Chief Justice’s 
observations in his year-end report about the Supreme Court’s use of technology have 
prompted proponents of wider transparency and video coverage of all federal court 
proceedings to raise their voices.  Rep. Steve King (R-IA) has introduced the “Sunshine 
in the Courtroom Act of 2015” (H.R. 917) and Sen. Chuck Grassley (R-IA) is expected to 
do the same soon.  The legislation would authorize (but not direct) district and appellate 
courts, including the Supreme Court, to provide for camera coverage of their 
proceedings. 

The FBA has not taken a position favoring or opposing camera coverage of the federal 
courts.  The Issues Agenda “encourages a discussion of the competing considerations vis-
a-vis proposed legislation which would authorize federal judges, in their discretion, to 
permit photographing, electronic recording, broadcasting, and televising of federal court 
proceedings in appropriate circumstances.”   
 
Patent Litigation Reform.  Optimism is high that Congress will pass legislation 
overhauling the patent litigation system this year, after inconclusive efforts during the last 
Congress.  The House Judiciary Committee on Feb. 12 held a hearing on the impact of 
recent Supreme Court decisions on patent litigation that offer new tools to federal district 
judges in combatting abusive patent litigation practices. The Federal Bar Association’s 
position, as expressed in the Issues Agenda, “supports legislation that curbs abusive 
patent litigation practices and other responsible measures to improve the quality and 
clarity of patents.”  In addition, “[t]he FBA opposes legislation that reduces judicial 
discretion in adjudicating patent actions or circumvents the Rules Enabling Act by 
mandating changes that depart from the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure in patent 
cases.” 
 
  

24



     

Panel Session on 
The FISA Court: National Security and Civil Liberties  

 
Federal Bar Association 

Mid-Year Meeting 
March 28, 2015, 10:30 am – Noon 

Westin Arlington Gateway Hotel, Arlington, VA.  
 

 
 This session will spotlight the Foreign Intelligence Surveillance Court, or FISA 
Court, its jurisdiction and judges, how it operates, and the legislative proposals aimed at 
changing how the Court performs its work.   The FBA’s sponsorship of this program 
advances the Association’s Issues Agenda and its encouragement of discussion of the 
twin assurance of the preservation of national security and the protection of civil liberties. 
 
 The FISA Court has been called the “most powerful court you have never heard 
of.”  Yet the court lies at the heart of the federal judiciary’s apparatus for preserving 
national security through intelligence gathering, while assuring civil liberties.  It is a 
specialized Article III court that hears applications and grants warrants or orders 
approving of certain foreign intelligence gathering activities.  In addition, the Foreign 
Intelligence Surveillance Court of Review reviews rulings of the FISA Court.  
 
 Since its creation in 1978, the FISA Court has operated largely in secret and in a 
non-adversarial manner with the government as the only party, due to the sensitive nature 
of intelligence warrant issuance. Some Members of Congress and critics have suggested 
that this non-adversarial process prevents the FISA Court from hearing opposing 
viewpoints on difficult legal issues facing the court.  To address these concerns, 
Congressional proposals have sought to mandate the FISA Court to hear from a specially-
designated advocate who would brief the court on potential privacy and civil liberty 
interests implicated by a government application.  Other proposals have been more 
moderate, clarifying the Court’s authority to hear from amici curiae.  Separation of 
powers and standing questions are implicated in the mandating of parties to appear before 
the court. The issue has some urgency in the 114th Congress, due to the expiration in June 
2015 of certain surveillance authorities under the Patriot Act 
 
 The panelists in the FBA panel session will include: 
 

• Hon. John D. Bates, U.S. District Court Judge, District of Columbia (FISA Court 
judge from 2006-2013) 

• Hon. Dee Benson, U.S. District Court Senior Judge, District of Utah (FISA Court 
judge from 2004-2011) 

• Robert S. Litt, General Counsel of the Office of the Director of National 
Intelligence 

• Stephen I. Vladeck, Professor of Law at American University Washington 
College of Law 

 

25



     

 The panelists will address the FISA courts, their unique jurisdiction and staffing, 
along with their security-sensitive procedures; examine Congress’ power to regulate the 
practice and procedures of the FISA Court; consider proposals to make the FISA court 
proceedings more adversarial, as well as the larger balance of national security and civil 
liberties.  A Q&A period with the FBA audience will conclude the session.  The session 
will be closed to the press.  
 
 

26



RegistRant infoRmation

Name  Title

Firm/Agency

Address

City State Zip                           

Phone Fax

E-mail Address

Plan to participate in this important event as FBA leaders from across the country meet 
with House and Senate offices to discuss important FBA legislative issues that impact 
the administration of justice and the federal courts. FBA Capitol Hill Day is becoming 
more popular each year. Don’t miss out!

During meetings on Capitol Hill, FBA participants will discuss issues most critical to our 
Third Branch of government, including: adequate funding for the federal courts, filling 
judicial vacancies promptly, and sufficient judgeships to render justice.  

Participants in FBA Capitol Hill Day are responsible for scheduling their meetings with 
their Senate and House offices in advance of the event. Feedback on these meetings will 
be distilled during the Group Debriefing at the end of the day.
  
Between meetings, participants will have the opportunity to visit the Senate and House 
galleries, as well as the Capitol Visitors Center.

Capitol Hill Day is held in conjunction with the 2015 Leadership Training Program 
(May 1-2, 2015). All chapters are encouraged to send a representative to this 
event. Because reimbursement is available for attendees of the Leadership 
Training Program, chapters who wish to have their representatives participate 
in Capitol Hill Day will only need to incur the cost of one additional night of 
lodging.

9:00 a.m.
Legislative Advocacy 
Training Learn the issues 
and how to be effective 
on the Hill

10:30 a.m. 
Participant Meetings with 
Senate and House Offices 
Begin and Continue into 
the Afternoon

Lunch  
On Your Own

4:00 p.m.
Group Debriefing on Hill 
Meetings

Program

Return form to the FBA office, 1220 North Fillmore Street, Arlington VA 22201 or 
(571) 481-9090 (fax) or email jzaretskie@fedbar.org.

Thursday, April 30, 2015

Federal Bar Association

CAPITOL HILL DAY

Participants and chapters sending representatives to Capitol Hill Day are 
responsible for their travel and lodging in connection with this event.

27



 

 

 

 

 CHAPTER GOVERNMENT RELATIONS LIAISON 

FBA National encourages all chapters to appoint a Government Relations Liaison.   

 The Chapter Government Relations Liaison will serve as the point-of-contact 

for the chapter with FBA Headquarters and the Government Relations Committee 

in promoting chapter government relations activity, as well as assist in the 

distribution of FBA government relations information to the chapter and its 

members and stakeholders. 

 The chapter vice-president or incoming president may be the ideal candidate 

for the Liaison position.  This position is intended to enliven and strengthen a 

chapter, not create more work.   

 The Liaison could assist, as appropriate, in: 

 Distribution of the monthly GRC update to chapter members and possibly 

local federal judges.  (The chapter may prefer to have the chapter president 

continue to transmit the GRC update to the federal judges) 

 

 Coordination of the chapter’s input, if any, into the annual FBA Issues 

Agenda nomination process 

 

 Coordination of the chapter’s advocacy in support of an FBA legislative 

priority, when requested by FBA National 

 

 Coordination of the chapter’s participation in FBA Capitol Hill Day 

 

 Other duties as assigned by the chapter to promote the chapter’s engagement 

in public policy issues and the FBA’s government relations program. 

 

 The GRC will periodically host government relations briefings for chapter 

government relations liaisons and chapter presidents on pertinent issues and 

developments.   

 Please send the name and contact information for your Chapter’s 
Government Relations Liaison to Jane Zaretskie, Manager of Chapters and Circuits.  

 

28

mailto:jzaretskie@fedbar.org


Issues Agenda Nomination 
 

Please complete the form by entering requested information in the gray text fields. The text fields will expand to 
accommodate multiline text. Please send completed nomination forms to the FBA Government Relations 
Committee by e-mail grc@fedbar.org or fax 571-481-9090, attention Bruce Moyer. The deadline for all agenda 
nominations is Friday, April 3, 2015. 
 
NOMINATOR INFORMATION 
 
Name  
 
Indicate whether nominating on behalf of     Self     Chapter     Section/Division 
 
Email 

     

 Telephone 

     

 
 
NOMINATED ISSUE 
1.  State the issue: 

     

 
 
 
 
2.  Provide a description of the nominated issue, referencing its origins and background.  Identify what 
recommended position FBA should take (for, against, or neutral), if pertinent. 

     

 
 
 
 
3.  To your knowledge, has the issue been the subject of Congressional legislative proposals, past or and/or 
present?  If so, provide pertinent information.  

     

 
 
 
 
4.  Describe the arguments for and, if known, against the issue. If known, describe the positions of any other 
organizations on the issue. 

     

 
 
 
 
5.  How is the issue relevant to FBA and its membership? 

     

 
 
 
 
Please attach any additional information that will be helpful in the consideration of the nomination. 
 
 

 

Signature Date 
 

29



 

 

 

 

TAB F 

Report from the Chair of the Constitution, Bylaws, Rules 

 

30



 

 
 
To:  FBA National Council 
 
From: Beth Smith, Chair Constitution, Bylaws, Rules and Resolutions Committee 
 
Date: February 23, 2015 
 
Re: Report of Proposed Changes to the FBA Bylaws and Other Future Considerations  
 
Committee Members: Beth Smith (chair), Geoffrey Cheshire, Steven Justice, Lynnette Kimmins, 
George Lieberman, Kevin Maxim, Honorable Suzanne Mitchell, Peg O’Connor, Paul Vamvas 
and Stacy King (staff liaison). 
 
Actions of the Committee 
The FBA Constitution, Bylaws, Rules and Resolutions Committee (“Committee”) reviewed 
actions of the FBA Board of Directors (“BOD”) and actions by other FBA groups that would 
require amendment to the Constitution of Bylaws. 
 
 Law Student Division Provision. During its March 2014 meeting, the BOD approved the 
establishment of the FBA Law Student Division.  That action requires the FBA Bylaws to be 
amended for the inclusion of language establishing this new division.   
 
During early January, the Committee considered proposed language to be included in the Bylaws 
concerning the FBA Law Student Division and after email exchanges and a meeting by 
conference call on January 8, 2015, the final provision appears as follows: 
 

FBA Bylaws. 
10. Divisions 
 F.  Law Student Division.  There shall be a Law Student Division of the 
Association.  All Law Student Associate members shall be members of the 
division. Law Student Associate Members are not eligible or authorized to vote or 
hold any elective office in the Association. 

 
The above language was changed from the original proposal due to the keen eye of former 
Committee Chair Paul Vamvas who raised the issue that an associate member of the Association 
may not hold an elective office.  Geoff Chesire suggested a solution to include a full FBA 
member  

 
Page 1 of  2 

31



 

as chair of this new division.  Therefore, the language for 10(F) works and the draft of the Law 
Student Division Bylaws were amended to include one full FBA member on the 12 member Law 
Student Division Board of Directors, and the same member will serve as chair of the division.  
As such, the Committee also reviewed and approved the FBA Law Student Division Bylaws as 
attached. 
 
 Correction of typo.  The Committee also approved a change in the Bylaws in Section 
6(D) to correct the spelling of “designated”.   
 
The above items were reported to the Board of Directors at its January 31, 2015 meeting and 
recommended to be submitted for a vote by the National Council at the FBA Mid-Year meeting. 
The Board of Directors approved the committee’s recommendation to amend the Bylaws. The 
committee submits the proposed amendments to the National Council for its approval. 
 
 Changes to YLD Age Limitation: During the meeting the Committee also reviewed the 
Younger Lawyer Division/Age Limit Evaluation Memorandum, which proposes changing the 
same division’s age limitation from 36 years to 40 years of age; or from the first 5 years of 
practice to the first 10 years of practice.  The Committee considered the memorandum and the 
importance of extending the two limitations to allow younger lawyers, either by age or years of 
practice, to establish themselves in the area of federal practice, making membership in the FBA 
meaningful.   The Committee determined that the YLD’s proposal did not conflict with either the 
FBA Constitution or Bylaws.  The committee reported on its recommendation to accept the 
YLD’s proposal at the January 31, 2015 meeting of the Board of Directors. The Board of 
Directors approved the committee’s recommendation. Due to the timing requirements for 
submission of proposed changes, this proposal cannot be considered during the Mid-Year 
meeting, and the Committee will recommend acceptance of the YLD age limitation proposal by 
National Council during the National Convention Annual Meeting in September. 
 
Future Consideration:  
The Committee will meet again to consider the following: 

Changing section 14 of the Bylaws by reducing the 90-day requirement a proposal must 
be submitted to the Committee for consideration to a lesser number of days.    Such a 
change would allow more swifter and flexible governance. 

 
 

  

 

Page 2 of  2 

32



FBA Bylaws  
Section 1. National Headquarters and Staff 
Section 2. Membership  
Section 3. Expulsion from Membership  
Section 4. Dues  
Section 5. Non-Payment of Dues  
Section 6. Election Schedule, Procedure, and Requirements  
Section 7. Meetings  
Section 8. Standing Committees  
Section 9. Special Committees  
Section 10. Divisions  
Section 11. Public Positions by Association Entities  
Section 12. Assets of Inactive Chapters  
Section 13. Fiscal Year  
Section 14. Amendments to the Constitution and the Bylaws  
Section 15. Robert's Rules of Order  
 
1. National Headquarters and Staff 
A. National Headquarters. The Federal Bar Association shall maintain a National Headquarters at a 
location to be selected by the Board of Directors. The National Headquarters shall be the repository for 
the books, records, and reports of the Association and its Officers, Board of Directors, National 
Council, Divisions, Standing Committees, Sections, and Chapters. Such papers shall be open to 
inspection by any member upon reasonable application to the Association. Additionally, a roster of the 
members and associates in good standing, together with listings of the membership of the Divisions, 
Standing Committees, Sections, and Chapters of the Association shall be maintained at the National 
Headquarters. All communications with the Association shall be addressed to the Federal Bar 
Association at its National Headquarters.  
 
B. Executive Director.  
The Board of Directors shall employ an Executive Director whose title, terms, and conditions of 
employment shall be specified by the Board of Directors.  
The Executive Director shall manage and direct all staff activities of the Association as prescribed by 
the Board of Directors. The Executive Director shall employ and may terminate the employment of 
members of the necessary support staff and may fix such employees’ compensation within the 
approved budget and guidelines set by the Board of Directors. The Executive Director shall define the 
duties of the staff, establish their titles, and supervise their performance, and delegate responsibilities 
of management as appropriate. The Executive Director shall be responsible for maintaining the books, 
records, reports and roster of the Association, as noted in Bylaw 1.A.  
 
2. Membership 
A. Applications. Application to become a member or an associate of the Association shall be by a form 
approved by the Membership Committee and shall be accompanied by one year’s dues.  
 
B. Approval. The Association's Executive Director shall process applications at the Association's 
National Headquarters for review and approval. The Executive Director may refer any application for 
review and approval to the Membership Committee.  
 
C. Honorary Membership. 

(1) (1) Federal Judges. A chapter may elect to honorary membership a judge who is eligible for 
honorary membership under Article IV, Section 2.c., of the Constitution. The Chapter shall notify the 
Association at the National Headquarters prior to such election. Similarly, the Chapter shall notify the 
Association if such an honorary member ends service as a judge in active, senior, or retired status.(2) 
Other. A chapter may propose any other person for receipt of an honorary membership in accordance 
with Article IV, Section 2b of the Constitution, which proposal shall be submitted in advance to the 
Association at the National Headquarters for approval. Upon approval, the chapter may extend 
honorary membership to the person(s) so approved. 

33

http://www.fedbar.org/About-Us/Organizational-Structure/FBA-Bylaws.aspx%231
http://www.fedbar.org/About-Us/Organizational-Structure/FBA-Bylaws.aspx%232
http://www.fedbar.org/About-Us/Organizational-Structure/FBA-Bylaws.aspx%233
http://www.fedbar.org/About-Us/Organizational-Structure/FBA-Bylaws.aspx%234
http://www.fedbar.org/About-Us/Organizational-Structure/FBA-Bylaws.aspx%235
http://www.fedbar.org/About-Us/Organizational-Structure/FBA-Bylaws.aspx%236
http://www.fedbar.org/About-Us/Organizational-Structure/FBA-Bylaws.aspx%237
http://www.fedbar.org/About-Us/Organizational-Structure/FBA-Bylaws.aspx%238
http://www.fedbar.org/About-Us/Organizational-Structure/FBA-Bylaws.aspx%239
http://www.fedbar.org/About-Us/Organizational-Structure/FBA-Bylaws.aspx%2310
http://www.fedbar.org/About-Us/Organizational-Structure/FBA-Bylaws.aspx%2311
http://www.fedbar.org/About-Us/Organizational-Structure/FBA-Bylaws.aspx%2312
http://www.fedbar.org/About-Us/Organizational-Structure/FBA-Bylaws.aspx%2313
http://www.fedbar.org/About-Us/Organizational-Structure/FBA-Bylaws.aspx%2314
http://www.fedbar.org/About-Us/Organizational-Structure/FBA-Bylaws.aspx%2315


D. Secondary Chapter Association. Although each member is assigned to one primary chapter based 
upon geographic location or request, such assignment does not preclude association, attendance or 
inclusion in the events or activities of any other chapter (subject to any applicable dues, fees, or other 
prerequisites imposed by such other chapter(s)).  
 
3. Expulsion from Membership 
A. Cause. As provided in Article IV, Section 4, of the Constitution, the Board of Directors may expel 
any member of the Association for good cause. “Good cause” includes, but is not limited to, knowingly 
engaging in conduct designed to overthrow the constitutional form of government in the United States 
by force or violence, or knowingly assisting another in such conduct; disbarment by (or resignation 
with disciplinary proceedings pending before) any State, Federal court or tribal court of record or 
knowingly engaging in conduct that is in violation of the Constitution of the Association or these 
Bylaws.  
 
B. Charge and Response. A charge for expulsion may be brought by any active member of the 
Association. The charge shall be in writing and signed by the charging party, and shall describe in 
detail the act or acts in question and why such act or acts justify expulsion. The charge shall be filed 
with the Association and shall be referred immediately to the Board of Directors. The Association shall 
give actual notice to the respondent of the charge and of the right to respond to the charge in writing 
and in person before the Board of Directors. If a member of the Board of Directors brought the charge 
against the respondent or is the respondent, that person shall not participate in the Board of Directors’ 
consideration or in its vote.  
 
C. Board of Directors Action. At the next meeting of the Board of Directors that allows at least ten 
days notice to the respondent, the Board shall consider the charge for expulsion. The Board initially 
shall consider whether the charge sets forth factual assertions that would constitute reasonable 
grounds for expulsion, and shall determine by a majority vote whether to dismiss the charge or to 
pursue the charge as provided in this Bylaw. If the Board of Directors pursues the charge, it shall 
consider the respondent’s written response, if any. If the respondent has requested an appearance 
before the Board, the Board shall grant the respondent a reasonable opportunity to be heard. After 
fully considering the charge and any response, the Board shall determine by a majority vote whether 
to expel the respondent or to dismiss the charge. The Association immediately shall notify the 
respondent of the Board’s action and of the respondent’s right to appeal any decision to expel.  
 
D. Appeal. If the Board of Directors expels the respondent from the Association, the respondent may 
appeal that decision to the Association within 60 days from notice thereof by the Association. To 
appeal, the respondent shall send the Association at the National Headquarters a letter so indicating 
and may send a written statement for consideration by the Association and a notice of intent to 
appear before the Association. The appeal will be considered by the National Council at the next 
regular meeting or at a special meeting called for that purpose. The Association shall give actual 
notice to the respondent of the time and place of that meeting. The decision of the Board of Directors 
shall be affirmed unless overruled by a majority of those members of the National Council present and 
eligible to vote.  
 
4. Dues 
A. Amount of Dues. Except honorary members, each member and associate of the Association shall 
pay annual dues to the Association. Twenty percent (20%) of each regular (i.e., not associate) annual 
member’s dues (not including sustaining dues), rounded upward to the next one-half dollar, shall be 
rebated to the Chapter that serves the location of the member’s mailing address, provided: If, as of 
the date of adoption of this Bylaw, a different Chapter is receiving a rebate of a member’s dues or if a 
member designates a different Chapter as the member’s primary Chapter, such different Chapter shall 
receive such rebate. Provided further, if a member opts to affiliate with no Chapter, no rebate shall be 
paid to any Chapter. Annual dues for members and associates of the Association shall be established 
by the Board of Directors and National Council. The National Council shall consider the dues 
recommendations of the Board of Directors upon notification as prescribed in Article VII of the 
Constitution provided that no proposed change in the amount of annual dues shall be considered 
unless the members of the National Council shall have received at least thirty (30) days advance 
notice of such proposed change (including amount(s) thereof).  
 

34



B. Dues Adjustments and Payment. Beginning October 1, 1990, dues for each category of 
membership, as well as for associates, shall be adjusted by the change in the Consumer Price Index 
over the previous three years as of the prior January 31st, rounded upward to the next dollar, and will 
be adjusted similarly every three years thereafter. Beginning October 1, 1996, the Board of Directors 
may further adjust the amount of such annual dues upward or downward to the nearest whole dollar 
figure ending in a 0 or a 5, which further adjustment shall not affect the calculation of future 
adjustments to reflect a change in the Consumer Price Index, as set forth in the first sentence of this 
Bylaw 4B. In turn, the portion of such dues to be rebated to Chapters shall be adjusted similarly to 
maintain the percentage level indicated in this Bylaw. Dues payments shall be collected and recorded 
by the Association at the National Headquarters; Chapter rebates portion of dues will be transmitted 
to the respective Chapters.  
 
C. Dues Anniversary. Members and associates shall pay a full year’s dues upon admission and shall be 
billed annually thereafter within a month of the anniversary month of admission, with the exception 
that those who were members prior to September 30, l975, shall be billed at the beginning of each 
fiscal year.  
 
D. Waiver of Dues. A member or associate may request, by a written request to the National 
Headquarters a waiver of dues for compassionate or exceptional reasons for a period not to exceed 
one year. The National Headquarters will forward the request to the President-elect for decisions. If 
the President-elect approves the request, the President-elect will notify the Executive Director, who 
will notify the Treasurer, the requesting member or associate, and that member’s or associate’s 
Chapter President of this decision. The member’s or associate’s Chapter will receive no rebate with 
respect to dues that have been waived.  
 
E. Chapter, Division, and Section Dues. Each Chapter may collect additional Chapter dues in its 
discretion, and the Chapter does not need to account for such dues to the National Headquarters. On 
request of any Chapter, approved by the Executive Director, the Association at the National 
Headquarters shall collect a Chapter’s dues and remit same to the Chapter. Each Division and Section 
may charge additional Division or Section dues in its discretion; all Division and Section dues shall be 
collected by the Association at the National Headquarters.  
 
F. Sustaining Dues. Members of the Association may distinguish themselves by becoming Sustaining 
Members. Rebates for Sustaining Members are only paid on the amount equal to active dues. The 
sustaining portion of the sustaining dues is not eligible for a rebate. Sustaining Membership dues shall 
be set as established by this Bylaw.  
 
G. Purpose of Dues. Annual dues shall be used to pay the general expenses of the Association. All 
additional dues collected through Sustaining Dues memberships shall be used primarily to support 
publications and educational programs of the Association.  
 
H. Membership Development and Dues Adjustments. Effective October 1, 1995, should a Chapter 
determine that, as a membership development tool, the waiver or reduction of national dues 
chargeable within its Chapter for a specific category(ies) of members is justified, that Chapter must 
submit its proposal to the Board of Directors for approval, for that Chapter only, in writing at least 
sixty (60) days in advance of the next regularly scheduled Board of Directors meeting. Each proposal 
must include justification and provide for the Chapter to maintain appropriate membership statistics. 
The Budget Committee shall analyze each such proposal and present its analysis and conclusions at 
least thirty (30) days prior to the next scheduled Board of Directors’ meeting. The prior approval of 
the Board of Directors must be obtained before the experiment is implemented as a program. Each 
Chapter which shall obtain approval of such a program shall reimburse the Association for any 
additional administrative cost related to implementing the program. Each dues experiment program 
will be limited in duration to no more than three (3) years. Each Chapter with an approved program 
will submit a written progress report to the Board of Directors annually, so long as the program 
remains in effect.  
 
5. Non-Payment of Dues 
A. Delinquent Member. If annual dues of a member or an associate have not been received by the 
National Headquarters within 60 days after dues have expired for the prior year, the Association shall 

35



notify the member or associate that the dues are in arrears and that the member or associate will be 
suspended from the Association unless the dues are received within 30 days. The Association also 
shall notify each Chapter with which the member or associate is affiliated and the Vice President for 
the Circuit in which such member or associate is located of the delinquency.  
 
B. Persons Not in Good Standing. A person whose annual dues have not been received at the National 
Headquarters within 90 days after dues have expired for the prior year shall be regarded as not in 
good standing and shall be suspended from the Association. A person who has been suspended from 
membership for nonpayment of annual dues may be reinstated at any time by payment of the current 
annual dues.  
 
C. Members of the Armed Forces During Time of War. Notwithstanding the foregoing, all Association 
members on active duty in the armed forces of the United States during a war, who do not request to 
the contrary, shall be exempt from the payment of dues while so serving.  
 
6. Election Schedule, Procedure, and Requirements 
A. Nominations by Nominations and Elections Committee and Notice of Election. By February 1 of each 
year, any member who desires to be considered by the Nominations and Elections Committee 
(Committee) for any elective office shall submit a completed Application for National Office 
(Application) to the Committee. The Committee may also seek out or consider other qualified 
members of the Association for possible nomination. By February 28 of each year, the Committee shall 
nominate one or more eligible members in good standing for each of the elective offices becoming 
vacant for the coming term. By April 1, the Committee shall cause to be transmitted to each member 
in good standing notice of the upcoming annual election and of the offices to be filled therein; of the 
Committee’s nominations for those offices; and the manner and time by which nominations of 
candidates may be made by petition as provided in Article V, Section 3.b., of the Constitution and this 
Bylaw.  
 
B. Qualifications and Elections of Officers and Directors  
1. Qualifications of Officers. To be eligible for election as a National Officer, a person must be a 
member of the Association in good standing and have served as a voting member of the Association’s 
Board of Directors for at least three (3) years.  
 
2. Qualifications and Election of Directors. Twelve members of the Board of Directors shall be elected 
by members of the Association as follows:  

1. Three (3) Board positions shall be filled by current or former Circuit Vice Presidents, elected for 
staggered three-year terms.  
2. Three (3) Board positions shall be filled by current or former Chairs of Sections or Divisions, elected 
for staggered three-year terms.  
3. Three (3) Board positions shall be filled by current or former Chapter Presidents, elected for 
staggered three-year terms.  
4. Three (3) Board positions shall be filled by members who, at the time of election, are age 36 or 
younger and have served as a chapter officer, a national YLD officer or Board member, or as a chapter 
leader with YLD responsibilities.  

A member appointed to serve the remaining period of a term to which another person was elected, at 
the conclusion of that partial term, may stand for election for a full three-year term. No director shall 
serve more than two elected three-year terms (which terms must be non-consecutive) on the Board 
exclusive of any term based upon service as a National Officer.  

3. Qualifications of Vice Presidents of the Circuits. To be eligible for election as a Circuit Vice President, 
a person must have been a member of the FBA in good standing for a minimum of five (5) years and 
have served or be currently serving as a Chapter President or a Chapter Officer.  

C. Nominations Close. Nominating petitions shall be delivered to the Committee at National 
Headquarters by April 25. Any petitions received thereafter shall be returned to the would-be 
candidate, indicating that the petition was tardy and the date it was delivered to the Committee. 

36



Nominating petitions must include a completed Application.  
 
D. Notice of Election, Ballots and Voting. By June 15, the Committee shall cause a Notice of Election to 
be sent to each member of the Association in good standing. The notice shall list the names of all 
nominated candidates and candidates by petition in alphabetical order under each elective office. The 
notice also shall contain such instructions as necessary for members to cast their votes as prescribed 
by policy adopted by the Board of Directors. A suspended member who is restored to good standing 
after the transmittal of the notice and who, prior to the election’s close, delivers to the Committee 
evidence of good standing, shall thereupon be entitled to vote. In an uncontested election, the 
Association shall only send the Notice of Election electronically to members. The ballot shall contain 
the names of all nominated candidates and candidates by petition for each elective office as well as 
space for a write-in candidate for each elective office. In an uncontested election, the Association shall 
conduct an election in a manner in which the Executive Director and Committee, subject to the 
approval of the President, deem to be the most efficient and cost effective. Completed ballots shall be 
received by the Chair of the Committee or by such person as designated by the Chair no later than 
June 30. The Committee shall review and certify the tabulated votes and report as elected the 
candidate for each office who has received a plurality of the votes cast for that office by July 1. If no 
candidate for a national office receives a plurality of the votes counted; (a) in the case of a tie 
between two (2) candidates, the election shall be resolved by a coin flip in the presence of the tied 
candidates or their designees by the National President or the President’s designee, which shall 
resolve the tie. The tosser of the coin shall be designated by the President. The candidate whose last 
name occurs last alphabetically shall call the coin toss; (b) in the case of a tie among more than two 
candidates; the election shall be resolved by drawing straws by the tied candidates or their designees 
from the hand of the National President or the President’s designee. The National President or the 
President’s designee shall prepare the straws and the candidate or designee drawing the longest straw 
shall win the election.  
 
E. Voting Procedure. Procedures shall be adopted by the Board of Directors to regulate the handling of 
voting, including the form of notices and ballots, and to prevent abuses of the voting privilege.  
 
F. Authority of Nominations and Elections Committee. The Committee is responsible for monitoring the 
overall conduct of the annual election and for ensuring compliance with this Bylaw.  

G.  Time. In the event that any deadline herein specified is a Saturday, Sunday, or legal federal 
holiday, the next succeeding business day shall substitute for that specific deadline. 
 
7. Meetings 
A. Time of Meetings and Procedures. Meetings of the Board of Directors and the National Council 
required by Article VI, Section 4.a. and Article VII, Section 2.a., of the Constitution shall be held at 
such time and place as the Board of Directors may direct. No proxies may be voted at meetings of the 
Board of Directors, National Council, or other meetings of the Association. Meetings of the Board of 
Directors, National Council, and of the Association shall be governed by the Constitution of the 
Association, these Bylaws and such rules as the Board of Directors and National Council may 
prescribe. When not inconsistent with such rules, the latest edition of Robert’s Rules of Order shall 
apply. The President shall appoint a parliamentarian for each meeting of the National Council and the 
Board of Directors.  
 
B. Notice of Meetings and Agenda. Notice of meetings shall comply with the requirements of the 
Constitution. An agenda for meetings of the National Council and the Board of Directors shall be 
included with any notice. Additional agenda items for a meeting of the National Council (except as 
provided in Bylaw 4A or with respect to amendments to the Constitution or Bylaws, which must be 
addressed only by satisfying the full notice requirements established by the Constitution) may be 
added by the President or Board of Directors if supplemental notice is provided by mail or electronic 
transmission no later than ten (10) days before a properly noticed meeting. Upon motion to suspend 
the notice requirement to address additional business, a two-thirds majority of those present and 
voting may raise additional issues at a National Council meeting, except that no motion to suspend the 
notice requirement shall be entertained with respect to amendments to the Constitution or Bylaws.  
 

Formatted: Highlight

37



C. Telephonic Meetings. Upon the decision of the President and appropriate notice, the Board of 
Directors may convene via telephone, video-conference or other electronic means.  
 
D. Challenge to Board Action. Any motion to alter, amend, or reverse a decision of the Board of 
Directors pursuant to Article VI Section 3.C.(2) of the Constitution shall be presented at least forty-
five (45) days prior to the National Council meeting.  
 
8. Standing Committees 
A. Establishment. Under Article VI, Section 5, of the Constitution, the following Standing Committees, 
Council, and Boards are established:  

(1) Operational Committees and Council.  

(a) Audit Committee. The Audit Committee is responsible for securing and reviewing an independent 
audit. The President shall appoint four (4) Board members and three (3) association members, who 
will serve for a term of one year. The Board appointees shall not include the President-elect or 
Treasurer.  
 
(b) Budget and Finance Committee. The Budget and Finance Committee is responsible for developing 
and monitoring the implementation of the budget of the Association. The President shall appoint the 
President-elect, Treasurer, and three (3) additional members of the Board who will serve a term of 
one year. The President shall appoint the President-elect as chair.  
 
(c) Constitution, Bylaws, Rules, and Resolutions Committee. The Constitution, Bylaws, Rules, and 
Resolutions Committee is responsible for considering and reporting on proposed changes in the 
Constitution and the Bylaws of the Association prior to presenting such proposals to the Board of 
Directors and/or the National Council. The Committee is responsible for considering and reporting to 
the Board of Directors on all resolutions prior to presenting such resolutions to the National Council. It 
is also responsible for studying and considering, on a continuing basis, means of improving the 
operations and the rules of the Board of Directors and the National Council prescribed pursuant to 
Bylaw 7.  
 
(d) Government Relations Committee. The Government Relations Committee is responsible for 
coordinating and advancing the Association’s issues agenda in implementation of policies adopted by 
the Board of Directors. The Committee shall have at least nine members and the President will appoint 
a member as chair. The President-elect, the Chair of the Sections and Divisions Council, and the Chair 
of the Circuit Vice Presidents shall be members.  
 
(e) Membership Committee. The Membership Committee is responsible for developing and 
implementing the Association’s annual membership recruitment and retention programs.  
 
(f) Nominations and Elections Committee. The Nominations and Elections Committee is responsible for 
administering the procedures applicable to nomination and election of national officers of the 
Association during the annual election as prescribed in Article V, Section 3, of the Constitution and 
Bylaw 6. The Committee shall be composed of the President, who shall chair the Committee; 
President-elect; immediate past-President; two Vice Presidents for the Circuit designated by the 
President; a Division chairperson designated by the President-elect; a Section Chairperson designated 
by the President, and two Chapter representatives designated by the President-elect. If a member of 
the Nominations and Elections Committee becomes a candidate for an elective office, the person shall 
be deemed to have resigned from the Committee instanter and a substitute member shall be promptly 
appointed by the person who originally appointed the resigning member. The substitute member shall 
complete the original term of the resigning member.  
 
(g) Sections and Divisions Council. The Sections and Divisions Council as established by the Board of 
Directors is responsible to coordinate, assist, and supervise the efforts of Sections and Divisions of the 
Association. The President shall nominate and, with the approval of the Board of Directors, appoint a 
Chair of the Sections and Divisions Council, and such Deputy Chairs and members as the President 
may deem appropriate. 

38



(2) Programmatic Committees and Boards. 

(a) Annual Meeting. The Annual Meeting Committee is responsible for planning and administering the 
annual meetings of the Association and for recommending to the Board of Directors sites and dates for 
future annual meetings. The Committee shall be composed of the President, President-elect, the 
Treasurer, and two members of the Board of Directors and chaired by the President-elect unless the 
President-elect determines a different composition.  
 
(b) Bench/Bar Relations. The Bench/Bar Relations Committee is responsible for facilitating and acting 
as the liaison between the federal judiciary and the members of the Federal Bar Association and for 
keeping the President and Board of Directors advised as to issues affecting the bench/bar. The 
committee shall be composed of six (6) members of the Federal bench and six (6) members of the 
Association and the Clerk of the Supreme Court. The members are appointed to the committee by the 
President and shall represent as many different Circuits as possible. The President-Elect shall appoint 
from the committee members the Deputy Chair, who shall become the Chair the following year.  
 
(c) Editorial Board. The Editorial Board is responsible for developing and publishing The Federal 
Lawyer. The Committee shall have at least nine members and the President shall appoint a member as 
chair.  
 
(d) Professional Ethics. The Professional Ethics Committee is to encourage professional and ethical 
practice in the Federal bar and to serve as a resource for events and CLE activities of the chapters, 
sections, divisions, and the national organization regarding professional ethics. 

B. Committee Composition and Terms of Office. The composition of the following Standing 
Committees: (1) Constitution, Bylaws, Rules, and Resolutions; (2) Membership; and (3) Professional 
Ethics, shall consist of no more than nine members, at least six of whom are from different Circuits. 
The President shall appoint a member as chairperson. Any vacancy shall be filled by appointment by 
the President for the time remaining in the vacated term. The terms shall be on a three (3) year 
staggered basis.  
 
9. Special Committees 
Any Special Committee or Task Force established by the Board of Directors shall go out of existence 
one year from the date it is established unless prior thereto the Board of Directors shall extend its 
existence for another year. The President shall appoint the members and shall appoint the 
chairperson.  
 
10. Divisions 
There shall exist the following Divisions, each of which shall enact bylaws, subject to the approval of 
the Board of Directors, which will provide for the Division’s general objectives, organization—including 
a chairperson and other internal leadership progression—and operation.  

A. Federal Career Service Division. There shall be a Federal Career Service Division of the Association. 
All members of the Association who are or have been officers or employees of the United States or of 
the District of Columbia are eligible to be members.  
 
B. Judiciary Division. There shall be a Judiciary Division of the Association. All past and present 
members of the Federal, Administrative, Military, State, and tribal judiciaries and their legal staffs are 
eligible to be members.  
 
C. Senior Lawyers Division. There shall be a Senior Lawyers Division of the Association. All active 
members of the Association who are age 55 years or older on the date on which each such member’s 
dues is payable are eligible to be members.  
 
D. Younger Lawyers Division. There shall be a Younger Lawyers Division of the Association, comprised 
of all active members of the Association who are age 36 years or younger on the first day of the fiscal 
year of the Association or who have engaged in the practice of law for fewer than five years as of the 
first day of the fiscal year of the Association. In the event that the Immediate Past Chairperson, who 

39



serves as an officer of the Division the year following his or her term as Chairperson, is older than 36 
years as of the first day of the fiscal year of the Association in the year he/she is to serve as 
Immediate Past Chairperson, or in the event he/she has been engaged in the practice of law for more 
than five years as of the first day of the fiscal year of the Association, he/she shall still be an eligible 
member of the Division for the year he/she is fulfilling his/her term as Immediate Past Chairperson. In 
the event the Division membership of any Division officer would otherwise cease in accordance with 
the foregoing, that officer shall remain a member of the Division and in office until the succeeding 
officers have commenced their terms.  
 
E. Corporate and Association Counsel Division. There shall be a Corporate and Association Counsel 
Division of the Association. All past or present members of corporate or association counsel’s staffs are 
eligible to be members.  

F. Law Student Division. There shall be a Law Student Division of the Association. All Law Student 
Associate members shall be members of the division. Law Student Associate members are not eligible 
or authorized to vote or hold any elective office in the Association. 

11. Public Positions by Association Entities 
A Division, Section or Chapter may not issue a public report or take a public position on an issue 
unless it adheres to the process set forth in the Constitution. A Standing or Special Committee may 
not take a public position or issue a public report; however, it may make recommendations or submit 
positions for consideration to the Board of Directors. No report or position may be inconsistent with 
any existing position of the Association. The Association shall keep a record of every report or position 
reported to the Board of Directors.  
 
12. Assets of Inactive Chapters 
Upon determination by the Board of Directors that a Chapter has failed to maintain an active 
membership of at least ten members for a period of one year, that it has withdrawn itself from the 
Association, or that it has had its charter revoked, the President shall direct the Treasurer to take 
charge of all assets and property of the Chapter and to hold them in trust for one year for the benefit 
of any Chapter that may organize or reorganize in that geographic area. If, at the end of one year, the 
Chapter is not reactivated and no new Chapter is organized, title to all such assets of the Chapter shall 
vest in the Association.  
 
13. Fiscal Year 
The fiscal year of the Association shall run from October 1 through September 30 of the following 
year.  
 
14. Amendments to the Constitution and the Bylaws 
A. Proposal and Study of Amendments. All proposals or petitions to amend (including repeal) 
provisions of the Constitution under Article XIX thereof, or these Bylaws under Bylaw 14C., except for 
annual dues changes proposed by the Board of Directors, shall be directed or referred to the 
Constitution, Bylaws, Rules, and Resolutions Committee for its recommendations. All such proposals or 
petitions shall reach the Committee at least ninety (90) days before the proposed amendments are to 
be considered for adoption at a National Council meeting or an annual meeting of the membership, as 
appropriate. The Constitution, Bylaws, Rules, and Resolutions Committee shall consider all such 
proposed amendments and shall report on them to the members of the Board of Directors sufficiently 
in advance of the meeting of the National Council at which any proposed change is to be considered to 
allow the Board of Directors to consider and express its approval or disapproval of the proposed 
change; and to the National Council or membership, as appropriate, on or before the dates on which 
notice must be provided of the next meeting of the National Council or annual meeting of the 
membership at which such proposed amendments may be acted upon. The Committee shall include in 
its report the recommendation of the Board of Directors and its recommendations as to whether the 
proposed amendment conflicts with provisions of the Constitution and other Bylaws, and if so, in what 
form or with what related changes to the Constitution or these Bylaws as may be necessary and 
appropriate. The provisions of this Bylaw shall not be suspended.  
 
B. Constitution.  

Formatted: Font: Italic, Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Font: Italic, Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

40



(1) Report of Constitution, Bylaws, Rules, and Resolutions Committee. The Constitution, Bylaws, 
Rules, and Resolutions Committee shall prepare a report on the proposal. The report shall include the 
text of the proposal, the text of any part to be repealed or amended, and a summary of the 
arguments for and against adoption of the proposal. A copy of this report shall be mailed or 
transmitted electronically with the ballot to each member of the Association in good standing.  
 
(2) Ballots. Returned ballots may not be required to be signed or otherwise identified by the members 
voting. The envelopes in which the ballots are returned shall be identified to enable the Association to 
identify them as ballots. The Constitution, Bylaws, Rules, and Resolutions Committee shall be 
responsible for overseeing the opening and counting the ballots and for reporting the vote.  

C. Bylaws. Subject to satisfying the notice and quorum requirements of the Constitution and these 
Bylaws, the National Council may adopt, amend, or repeal any Bylaw at a regular or special meeting 
of the National Council upon two-thirds vote of those present and voting.  
 
15. Robert's Rules of Order 
Wherever the Constitution of the Association or these Bylaws omit or fail to address any substantive or 
procedural matter that is addressed in the most current version of Robert’s Rules of Order, the most 
current version of Robert’s Rules of Order shall govern as to that matter.  
 
Base Document Published September 28, 1991  
 
Last revised April 6, 2013; September 10, 2011; March 19, 2011; September 25, 2010; February 10, 
2006; Bylaw 8a (1) (e) added & former (e) through (l) redesignated (f) through (m) April 24, 1999; 
Bylaw 4 and 14 revised October 10, 1998; Bylaw 4 revised April 25, 1998, effective October 1,1998; 
Bylaw 4b revised & bylaw 8a 1(l) added September 21, 1996; Bylaw 6D Revised April 27, 1996; Bylaw 
4A, 4B, 4D, and 4H Revised September 16, 1995; Bylaws 6A and 8A2(c) & (g) Revised April 22, 1995; 
Bylaw 6 Revised October 8, 1994; Bylaw 16 Repealed October 1, 1993 

41



 

 

 

 

TAB G 

Report from the ABA Delegate 

42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

National Council Credentials  
and Standing Rules 

  

71



The Constitution of the Federal Bar Association 

Article VII - National Council 
 
Section 1. Composition. The National Council shall consist of the elective officers; all members of 
the Board of Directors; all Past National Presidents who are in good standing; Chairpersons of all 
Divisions, Sections, and Standing Committees; the President of the Federal Bar Building 
Corporation; the President of the Foundation of the Federal Bar Association; the General Counsel of 
the Federal Bar Association; either the President of each Chapter or other Chapter officer as 
designated in writing by the Chapter President to the Board of Directors; one other delegate from 
each Chapter to be selected by the Chapter; and not more than 20 members to be appointed 
annually by the President within 30 days after the latter assumes duties of that office. Appointive 
members shall be subject to removal by the President with the prior approval of the Board of 
Directors. A vacancy due to death, resignation, or removal of an appointive member may be filled by 
appointment by the President. The President’s appointments shall have prior approval of the Board 
of Directors. 
 
Section 2. Meetings.  
 
a. The National Council shall meet at the Annual and Midyear Meetings of the Association each year 
as provided for in the Bylaws of the Association. The Board of Directors may combine the National 
Council meeting with the Annual Meeting of the Association. Notice, as set forth in the Bylaws of the 
Association, shall be mailed or transmitted electronically to all National Council members at least 
30 days prior to the date of each regular meeting. 
 
b. The National Council may meet specially at other times at the call of the President, with the 
consent of the Board of Directors, at such time and place and for such purposes as the President 
may consider necessary; provided, that no business shall be transacted at any special meeting of the 
National Council unless notice, as set forth in the Bylaws of the Association, of the time, place, and 
purpose of such meeting has been mailed or transmitted electronically by the Association to each 
National Council member in good standing at least 30 days prior to such meeting.   
 
Section 3. Quorum and Procedure. Twenty-five percent of the members of the National Council in 
good standing shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. Action by the National 
Council shall be as provided in this Constitution and the Bylaws of the Association. 

 
 

 

72



 

 
 
Policy No. 1-9: National Council Standing Rules 
Approved By: Board of Directors 

Date Approved: September 7, 2011 

Date Effective: September 7, 2011 

 
Policy: 

The Federal Bar Association’s Constitution and Bylaws govern assemblies of the National Council. 
Where these documents are silent, the current edition of Robert's Rules of Order Newly Revised 
applies, per the Bylaws. Pursuant to Robert’s Rules of Order and the National Council’s past practices, 
please note the following 

1. The chair must recognize a speaker before that speaker’s comments are before the body. 
 
2. Except as permitted by Robert’s Rules, speakers are not to be interrupted. Person wishing to 

speak should remain seated until a speaker concludes. Rising from a chair first does not give 
priority unless the chair instructs persons wishing to speak to approach the microphones. Priority 
is given to those who have not spoken. 

 
3. Approach the microphone to be recognized. A speaker must state name and position prior to 

making comments. 
 

4. Prior to making a motion, a speaker should 1. Be recognized and state his or her name and 
position; 2. Approach the microphone; 3. State name and position; and 4. Hand the written 
motion to the Chair. A determination will be made as to whether the motion is in order based on 
the content of such motion before debate shall begin.  

 
5. Any speaker who has spoken on a motion may not speak a second time until all others are heard. 

 
6. Microphones will be marked “pro” and “con”. Movants shall speak from the pro microphone, 

opponents from the con microphone. 
 

7. Prior to a motion being before the body or debated, the Chair shall 1. State the name of the 
motion; 2. State the name of the movant and the movant’s position; 3. State the name of the 
second and the second’s position; and 4. Read the motion.  

 
8. Debate shall be limited to two minutes per speaker. No member may speak in debate more 

than two times on the same day to the same question. 
  

 
73



9. No member may speak a second time on the same question if another who has not spoken 
requests the floor. 

10. A timekeeper shall signal when allotted time has expired. At that time, the speaker must 
cease speaking.  

11. Comments should be addressed to the Chair. Other speakers should be referred to by title or 
more formal address rather than first name, such as “the prior speaker from New York”. 

 
 

Purpose: 

To insure an efficient, productive, and orderly meeting of the National Council. 

 
 
Change Notice: 
 
 

74



 

 
 
Policy No. 2-3: Reimbursement Policy 
Approved By: Board of Directors 

Date Approved: September 24, 1986 

Date Effective: October 1, 1986 

 
Policy: 

All requests for reimbursement must be submitted within 30 days from the last day of the event for 
which the expense was incurred. Amounts sought for reimbursement must be within the limits 
established by this Policy 2-3 or otherwise approved by the President or Executive Director. All requests 
should be on the attached Reimbursement Request Form and must be accompanied by receipts and/or an 
explanation of the nature of the expense. When a receipt is not available, a written explanation of the 
expense shall be submitted. 

Reimbursement shall be as follows unless otherwise provided by the President or the Executive 
Director: 

• The President of the Association shall be reimbursed for all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses 
associated with his/her duties as President. Reimbursement shall not exceed the amount 
designated in the Association’s approved budget. 

• Board of Directors shall be reimbursed for up to 3 days per diem plus airfare and up to $75 for 
ground transportation for board meetings. If the board meeting is held in conjunction with the 
annual meeting, Board of Directors shall be reimbursed for up to 5 days per diem (based on 
actual attendance). Directors-elect shall be reimbursed for up to 5 days per diem plus airfare and 
up to $75 for ground transportation (based on actual attendance) for the board meeting held in 
conjunction with the annual meeting. 

• Vice Presidents for the Circuits shall be reimbursed for up to 2 days per diem plus airfare and up 
to $75 for ground transportation for annual and midyear meetings. Vice Presidents for the 
Circuits-elect shall be reimbursed for up to 2 days per diem plus airfare and up to $75 for ground 
transportation for annual meetings. 

• Chapters are permitted two seats on the National Council: the Chapter President or his/her 
designee and a Chapter Delegate. Chapter Delegates must be identified by the chapter at least 30 
days in advance of the annual and midyear meetings. Each chapter shall be entitled to have one 
attendee reimbursed for airfare or two attendees each reimbursed for half the cost of airfare. For 
those chapters in existence for three or fewer years, the Executive Director may grant an 
exception and reimburse airfare for two attendees. 

• Past National Presidents, National Committee Chairs, and National Council Appointed members 
shall be reimbursed for airfare for annual and midyear meetings.  

 
75



• One Delegate to the ABA House of Delegates, who is elected by the members of the 
Association, shall be reimbursed for up to 2 days per diem plus airfare and up to $75 for ground 
transportation for two ABA Meetings annually and up to 2 days per diem plus airfare and up to 
$75 for ground transportation for FBA annual and midyear meetings.  Members are encouraged 
to represent the FBA on other association boards and committees but no reimbursement will be 
available.  

• Reimbursement for Section and Division Chairs is governed by Policy 9-5: Section and Division 
Financial Management. 

For the purpose of this policy, current reimbursement rates are 

• Airfare: coach rate, subject to 21-day, advanced purchase with Saturday night stay. If airfare is 
purchased less than 21 days in advance of the meeting, the reimbursement will be capped at 
$500. 

• Rail: up to the maximum of equivalent airfare 

• Car Travel: $.55/mile (in lieu of air/rail up to the maximum of equivalent airfare) 

• Lodging, meals and incidentals: $150 per diem (actual, up to the maximum per day) 

• Ground transportation: up to the maximum of $75 

In all instances, receipts must be attached for any expense more than $25 for reimbursement 
requests. 

Exceptions may be approved by the Executive Director of the Federal Bar Association. If a request is 
denied, the individual may submit an appeal in writing to the Executive Committee within 30 days of the 
denial. 

Purpose: 

To establish the time limits and devise conditions under which requests for reimbursement of expenses 
incurred by individuals in pursuit of their official function for the Federal Bar Association will be 
reimbursed. 

 
Change Notice: Amended 1/31/2015; 6/21/2014; 1/25/2014; 4/5/2013; 2/1/2002; 6/24/2001 
 

76


	1  NC Midyear meeting cover page
	3 28 15 Agenda Mid Year National Council Meeting
	3  TAB A
	9-6-14 NC Minutes
	5  TAB B
	Actions of the BOD FY15
	7  TAB C
	FBA January 2015 Financials
	9  TAB D
	Nominations and Elections report
	11 TAB E
	GRC-FBANatCouncil  FINAL 0224-2015
	GRC-FBANatCouncil  0224-2015
	CapitolHillDayflyer2015_ FINAL
	GR Liaison Announcement - FINAL
	2016 Issue Nominations Form

	15  TAB F
	Bylaw committee report to NC
	FBA Bylaws as of FY15-redline REVISED 1-7-15
	18  TAB G
	2015 Mid-Year ABA Delegate Report
	NC Credentials and Standing Rules
	Policy 1-9 National Council Standing Rules
	Purpose:
	Change Notice:

	Policy 2-3 Reimbursements
	Purpose:




